UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
BROWARD DIVISION

SARAI MACK, ON BEHALF OF
HERSELF AND ALL OTHERS
SIMILARLY SITUATED,

CASE NO.:

Plaintiffs,
VS.

PANERA, LLC, A FOREIGN
PROFIT CORPORATION,

Defendant.
/

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JU RY TRIAL

Plaintiff, SARAI MACK (“MACK” or “Plaintiff”), by and through her undersigned
counsel, sues the Defendant, PANERA, LLC ("PANERA” or “Defendant™), a Foreign
Profit Corporation, and alleges the following:

THE PARTIES

1. Defendant is a foreign For Profit Corporation, with its principal offices in
Missouri, and at all times material to this lawsuit, conducted and continues to conduct
substantial and regular business throughout Florida including and operating numerous
bakery-cafes including multiple bakery-cafes in Broward County, Florida.

2. “As of April 30, 2014, [Defendant operates] 1,800 bakery-cafes in 45 states
and in Ontario Canada . . . delivering fresh, authentic artisan bread served in a warm
environment by engaging associates.” www.panerabread.com.

3 Plaintiff applied for employment with PANERA in approximately May
2012, using Panera’s online application process which is, and was, available to potential job

applicants from any computer terminal having online access across the United States, and



more specifically, in Broward County, Florida.

4, During the application process, Plaintiff electronically executed an online
background check disclosure and authorization form permitting Defendant to obtain a
consumer report.

5. Plaintiff ultimately was hired by Panera in May 2012, and still works for
Defendant in its Bronx, New York, location. Plaintiff brings this Class Action on behalf of
herself and a nationwide class, defined as all employees or prospective employees of
Defendant in the United States, who completed Defendant’s background check disclosure
and authorization forms allowing Defendant to obtain a consumer report (the “Class™) at any
time during the period beginning five (5) years(the “Class Period™) prior to the filing of this
Complaint and ending on the date as determined by the Court who were provided a
disclosure regarding the possibility of obtaining a consumer report that was not in
compliance with the requirements of the FCRA.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. The Court has original jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s federal claims pursuant to
28 U.S.C. § 1331 as they arise under 15 U.S.C. §1681 et seq.

Zs Venue is proper because Defendant: (a) is subject to personal jurisdiction in
this District and therefore resides in this District; (b) maintains offices and facilities in this
District; and (c) Defendant committed the illegal conduct complained of with regard to
Class members in this District.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

8. The Fair Credit Reporting Act 15 U.S.C. §1681, et. seq. (“FCRA™) provides
individuals with a number of rights. Specifically, pertaining to employment-related

background checks, the FCRA provides that a prospective employee must give valid



consent to the background check. The FCRA requires a signed authorization and disclosure
from the applicant, sometimes referred to as a “consent form.” The authorization and
disclosure form must be executed and signed by the applicant prior to an employer
requesting or conducting a background check. Importantly, no extraneous information
can be attached or included on the consent form. The authorization and disclosure
must stand alone.

9. In violation of 15 U.S.C. §1681b(b)(2)(A)(i), Defendant has unlawfully
inserted extraneous language into forms purporting to give Defendant the authority to
obtain and use consumer report information for employment purposes. Specifically,
Defendant incorporates additional language such as explaining “at-will” employment, and
requiring additional disclosures to be made by the applicant, that are unrelated to the
“consumer reports” that were, and are being authorized for use in employment decisions. !
See Exhibit A.

10. The FCRA prohibits the practice articulated in Paragraph 8, above, and
requires that forms granting the authority to access and use consumer report information for
employment purposes be stand alone forms, and not include any additional information,
language, or agreements.

11. Defendant’s decision to include at-will and disclaimer provisions in its
authorization forms is contrary to the plain language of the FCRA and FTC advisory
memoranda explaining that the FCRA is violated when a consumer report disclosure does

not consist “solely” of the disclosure that a consumer report may be obtained for

! Defendant directs its applicants to a company called PeopleAnswers. Defendant designates
PeopleAnswers to administer and then forward online applications to Defendant for hiring decisions. A
separate lawsuit has been filed against PeopleAnswers because, on information and belief, PeopleAnswers
uses the same illegal FCRA disclosure and authorization for numerous other companies including Neiman
Marcus, Lowe’s, Staples, Petsmart, and others.



employment purposes.

12 In violation of 15 U.S.C. §1681b(b)(2)(A)(ii), Defendant has obtained
consumer reports without proper authorization, because the authorization and disclosure
form signed by Plaintiff, and other Class members, failed to comply with the requirements
of the FCRA. The inclusion of additional language into the authorization forms invalidates
the purported consent requirements, and also triggers statutory damages under the FCRA in
the amount of up to $1,000 for each applicant that Defendant obtained a consumer report
regarding, without a facially valid authorization, as well as punitive damages, equitable
relief, and attorneys’ fees and costs.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

13. Plaintiff originally submitted an online application for work with Defendant
in approximately May 2012. In connection with her employment application, Plaintiff
completed Defendant’s standard application materials. These application materials included
a background check disclosure and authorization form, included among other language.

14. Nowhere in these materials, however, did Defendant use the terms
“consumer report.”

I5. Nowhere in these materials did Defendant provide a stand-alone background
check disclosure and authorization form, that solely included the appropriate disclosures or
authorizations under the FCRA.

16.  The only arguable background check disclosure and authorization form
provided by Defendant to Plaintiff included additional language regarding at-will
employment, information regarding hours of work, and a disclaimer.

17. The inclusion of the additional language articulated above included in the

background check disclosure and authorization form violates the FCRA, 15 US.C. §1681,



el. seq.

18.  Following Plaintiff's submission of the online application, Defendant, upon
information and belief, procured a consumer report regarding Plaintiff’s education,
employment experience, criminal conviction records, and all other “statements made on this
application.”

19.  Plaintiff and the other Class members are unware of the specific date that
Defendant’s FCRA violations occurred. To determine same, one of Plaintiff’s counsel,
Jeffrey Gottlieb, send Defendant’s Chief Human Resources Officer a letter dated July 10,
2014, requesting a copy of Plaintiff’s background report, but has not received a response to
date.

20. Under the FCRA, it is unlawful to procure a consumer report or cause a
consumer report to be procured for employment purposes, unless: (i) a clear and
conspicuous disclosure has been made in writing to the consumer at any time before the
report is procured, or caused to be procured, in a document that consists solely of the
disclosure, that a consumer report may be obtained for employment purposes; and (ii) the
consumer has authorized in writing (which authorization may be made on the document
referred to in clause (i) the procurement of the report.” 15 U.S.C. §§1681b(b)(2)A(i)-
(ii)(emphasis added).

21.  Although the disclosure required by clause (i) and the authorization required
by clause (ii) may be combined in a single document, the FTC has warned that the “form
should not contain any extraneous information.”

22. By including the additional information/language referenced above in its
background check disclosure and authorization form, Defendant willfully disregarded the

FTC’s regulatory guidance and violated the FCRA.



THE CLASS

23.  Plaintiff brings this Class Action Complaint pursuant to Rule 23(b)(2) and/or
(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, on behalf of defined as all employees or
prospective employees of Defendant in the United States, who completed Defendant’s
background check disclosure and authorization forms allowing Defendant to obtain a
consumer report at any time during the period beginning five (5) years prior to the filing of
this Complaint and ending on the date as determined by the Court who were provided a
disclosure regarding the possibility of obtaining a consumer report that was not in
compliance with the requirements of the FCRA.

24, To the extent equitable tolling operates to toll claims by the Class against
Defendant, the Class Period should be adjusted accordingly.

25, Defendant, as a matter of corporate policy, practice and procedure, and in
violation of the FCRA, intentionally, knowingly, and willfully, engaged in a practice
whereby Defendant uniformly, unlawfully, and deceptively instituted a practice of obtaining
consumer reports without valid authorization to do so.

26.  Defendant acted in deliberate or reckless disregard of its obligations and the
rights of applicants and employees, including Plaintiff and Class members making its
conduct willful.

27.  Defendant’s willful conduct is reflected by, among other things, the
following facts: (a) Defendant is a large company with access to legal advice through its
own general counsel’s office and outside employment counsel; (b) Defendant included a
purported authorization to perform background checks in its employment application which,
although defective, evidences Defendant’s awareness of, and willful failure to follow, the

governing laws concerning such authorizations; (c) the plain language of the FCRA



unambiguously indicates that inclusion of additional language and disclaimers in a
disclosure form violates the disclosure and authorization requirements; and (d) the FTC’s
express statements, both pre, concurrent with, and post Defendant’s conduct, which state
that inclusion of additional language and disclaimers in the documents at issue, violate the
FCRA.

28.  Defendant has utilized these illegal authorization forms repeatedly over the
last five (5) years to thousands of job applicants, despite the FCRA’s clear requirements,
further demonstrating the willful nature of its conduct.

29, The Class is so numerous that joinder of all Class members is impractical.

30.  Defendant uniformly violated the rights of the Class by violating the FCRA
by unlawfully, unfairly, and/or deceptively having in place, company policies, practices, and
procedures that uniformly obtained consumer reports on prospective employees, without
first obtaining valid authorization consent forms.

3. Common questions of law and fact exist as to members of the Class,
including, but not limited to, the following:

(a) Whether Defendant required Class members to sign a background check
disclosure and authorization form:;

(b) Whether Defendant required Class members to sign a background check
disclosure and authorization form that complied with the FCRA;

(c) Whether Defendant violated the FCRA by including improper and
additional language including disclaimers in its background check
disclosure and authorization form;

(d) Whether Defendant violated the FCRA by procuring consumer report

information based on invalid authorizations;



(¢) Whether Defendant’s violations of the FCRA were willful;

(f) The proper measure of statutory and/or punitive damages;

(2) The proper form of injunctive and/or declaratory relief: and

(h) The amount of attorneys’ fees and costs to which Plaintiff's counsel is
entitled.

32 This Class Action meets the statutory prerequisites for the maintenance of a
Class Action as set forth in Rules 23(b)(2) and/or (3) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, in that:

(a) The persons who compromise the Class are so numerous, that the joinder
of all such persons is impractical, and the disposition of their claims as a
class will benefit the parties and the Court:

(b) Nearly all factual, legal, statutory, and declaratory relief issues raised in
this Complaint are common to the Class, and will apply uniformly to
every member of the Class;

(c) The claims of the representative Plaintiff are typical of the claims of each
member of the Class. Plaintiff, like all potential and putative Class
members, had a consumer report obtained on her behalf by Defendant,
prior to obtaining valid authorization to do so in violation of the FCRA
as described above. Plaintiff and the Class members were, and are,
similarly or identically harmed by the same, unlawful, deceptive,
repetitive, unfair, and pervasive pattern of misconduct engaged in by
Defendant;

(d) The representative Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and

protect the interest of the Class, and has retained counsel who are



experienced and competent in Class action litigation. There are no
material conflicts between the representative Plaintiff and the members
of the Class that would make Class certification inappropriate. Counsel
for the Class will vigorously assert the claims of all employees in the
Class.

33.  Inaddition to meeting the statutory prerequisites to a Class Action, this case
is properly maintained as a Class Action pursuant to Rule 23(b)(2) and/or (3) of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure, in that:

(a) Without class certification and determination of declaratory, statutory,
and other legal questions within the class format, prosecution of separate
actions by individual members of the Class will create the risk of: (1)
inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual members
of the Class which would create incompatible standards of conduct for
the parties opposing the Class; and (2) adjudication with respect to
individual members of the Class which would, as a practical matter, be
dispositive of the interests of other Class members not party to the
adjudication or substantially impair or impede their ability to protect
their interests.

(b) The parties opposing the Class have acted or refused to act on grounds
generally applicable to the Class, making appropriate Class wide relief
with respect to the Class as a whole.

(c¢) Common questions of law and fact exist as to the members of the Class,
with respect to the practices and violations of the FCRA as listed above,

and predominate over any question affecting only individual Class



members, and a Class Action is superior to other methods for the fair and
efficient adjudication of the controversy including consideration of:

(1) The interests of the Class in individually controlling the prosecution
or defense of separate actions in that the substantial expense of
individual actions will be avoided to recover the relatively small amount
of economic losses sustained by the individual Class members when
compared to the substantial expense and burden of individual
prosecution of this litigation;

(2) Class certification will obviate the need for unduly duplicative
litigation that would create the risk of: (a) inconsistent or varying
adjudications with respect to individual members of the Class, which
would establish incompatible standards of conduct for Defendant; and/or
(b) adjudications with respect to individual members of the Class would,
as a practical matter, be dispositive of the interests of the other members
not parties to the adjudication or substantially impair or impede their
ability to protect their interests:

(3) In the context of employment litigation because as a practical matter,
a substantial number of Class members will avoid asserting their legal
rights out of fear of retaliation by Defendant, which may adversely affect
an individual’s job with Defendant or a subsequent employer, the Class
Action is the only means to assert their claims through a representative;
and

(4) A Class Action is superior to other available methods for the fair and

efficient adjudication of this litigation, because class treatment will

10



obviate the need for unduly and unnecessarily duplicative litigation that

is likely to result in the absence of certification of this Action pursuant to
Rules 23(b)(2) and/or (3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

34.  This Court should permit this Action to be maintained as a Class Action
pursuant to Rule 23(b)(2) and/or (3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure because:

(a) The questions of law and fact common to the Class predominate over
any question affecting only individual Class members because
Defendant’s employment practices were uniform and systematically
applied to the Class;

(b) A Class Action is a superior method to any other available method for
the reasons stated above;

(c) The members of the Class are so numerous;

(d) The efficiencies of Class Action litigation outweigh the litigation of
individual cases in this matter;

(e) There is a community of interest in obtaining appropriate legal and
equitable relief for the statutory violations complained of, and in
obtaining adequate compensation for same;

(f) There a community of interest in ensuring that the combined assets of
Defendant are sufficient to adequately compensate the members of the
Class for the injuries sustained;

(g) Defendant acted uniformly with respect to its violations of the FCRA
regarding all Class members;

(h) The Class members are readily ascertainable from the business records

of Defendant, based on the Class definition:

11



(i) Class treatment provides a manageable judicial treatment calculated to
bring an efficient and rapid conclusion to all litigation of the FCRA
claims in this case.

35. Defendant maintains records and data to identify all of the putative class
members in this case.
COUNT I:

FOR FAILURE TO MAKE PROPER DISCLOSURE IN VIOLATION OF THE
FCRA UNDER 15 U.S.C. §1681b(b)(2)(A)(i), et. seq.

36. Plaintiff realleges and adopts the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-35 as
if fully set forth in this Count.

ar Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. §1681b(b)(2)(A)(i) of the FCRA by including
additional disclaimers and language in its background check disclosure and authorization
form that Plaintiff and other Class members were required to execute as a condition of
employment with Defendant.

38.  Defendant’s violations of the FCRA in this regard were willful. Defendant
knew that its background check and disclosure and authorization form should not include
extraneous information prohibited by the FCRA, and acted in deliberate disregard of the
FCRA, and the rights of Plaintiff and the Class.

39. Plaintiff and the Class members are entitled to statutory damages of not less
than $100 and not more than $1,000 for every violation of the FCRA., pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
§1681n(a)(1)(A).

40.  Plaintiff and the Class members are entitled to punitive damages for these
violations, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1681n(a)(2).

41.  Plaintiff and the Class members are entitled to recovery of their attorneys’

12



fees and costs incurred as a result of these violations, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1681n(a)(3).
COUNT II:

FOR FAILURE TO OBTAIN PROPER AUTHORIZATION IN VIOLATION
OF THE FCRA UNDER 15 U.S.C. §1681b(b)(2)(A)ii), et. seq.

42, Plaintiff realleges and adopts the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-35 as
if fully set forth in this Count.

43, Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. §1681b(b)(2)(A)(ii) of the FCRA procuring
consumer reports regarding Plaintiff and Class members without proper authorization.

44.  Defendant’s violations of the FCRA in this regard were willful. Defendant
knew that its background check and disclosure and authorization form should not include
extraneous information prohibited by the FCRA, and acted in deliberate disregard of the
FCRA, and the rights of Plaintiff and the Class.

45.  Plaintiff and the Class members are entitled to statutory damages of not less
than $100 and not more than $1,000 for every violation of the FCRA, pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
§1681n(a)(1)(A).

46. Plaintiff and the Class members are entitled to punitive damages for these
violations, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1681n(a)(2).

47.  Plaintiff and the Class members are entitled to recovery of their attorneys’

fees and costs incurred as a result of these violations, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. $1681n(a)(3).

REQUEST FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and the Class Members prays that
this Court will:
(a) Certify the First and Second Causes of Action asserted by the Class as

a Class Action pursuant to Rules 23(b)(2) and/or 3k

L3



(b) Name Plaintiff and the Representative Plaintiff for the Class, and
naming the undersigned as Class Counsel for Plaintiff and the Class:

(c) Determine and enter Judgment that Defendant willfully violated the
FCRA by improperly including extraneous disclaimers and language
in its background check disclosure and authorization form, and by
using such improper forms to obtain consumer reports without valid
permission to do so;

(d) Enter an award of statutory damages to Plaintiff and the Class
members in an amount equal to $1,000 for Plaintiff and each Class
members affected by Defendant’s willful violation of the FCRA;

(e) Award punitive damages to Plaintiff and Class members pursuant to
the FCRA;

(f) Award costs of suit and reasonable attorneys’ fees to Plaintiff and
Class members pursuant to the FCRA; and

(g) Such other and further relief as the Court deems just and equitable.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable.

Respectfully submitted this ]h} day of July 2014.

/s/ RICHARD CELLE
Richard Celler, Esquire
Florida Bar No. 0173370

RICHARD CELLER LEGAL, P.A.

7450 Griffin Road, Suite 230

Davie, Florida 33314

Telephone: (866) 344-9243

Facsimile: (954) 337-2771

E-mail: richard@floridaovertimelawyer.com

Counsel for Plaintiffs

14



EXHIBITA



Name Address Occupation Telephone #:

PR l |
L I | I

Signature
PLEASE READ CAREFULLY BEFORE SIGNING

By my signature below, | affiem that | have read and understand this application. that | have not withheld any information
requested, and that any statements thal have made are true and correct. | understand thal any omission of misrepresentation of
factin this application may result in refusal or separation from employmant.

| authonze venfication and investigation of the statements made on this application and of my amploymaent history

If 1 am accepted for employment, | understand and agree that such employment will be at will and may be terminated by either
party al any time with reason or no reason and with or without prior notice. | further understand and agree that this at-will
employment status constitutes the entire understanding between me and the company regarding the right and ability of either
party to lerminale employment and that this al-will slatus cannot be changed excep! through & writlen understanding signed by the
President of the Company

Signature

{BY TYPING IN THIS FIELD YOU ARE ELECTRONICALLY SIGNING THIS Date

FORM;

I | 2010-02-18

Panara Bread is commulted o marianing a smoke free and drug free workplace.  The company reserves the righi [o admeregler
drug lests lo applcants and empicyees (o the extent parmitied by iaw

All appicants will receive considaraiion withou! regard 1o race, color, sex, manlalslatus, sexual onamlalon, relgion. age, nahonal
origin, disabyiity. handicap. veteran status, or any other protectad category. ReS Jnable accommodations will be provided in
accordance with the law

Panara Broad doss not require or administer a ke detector test as a condition of smployment. Such 1esting 1s prohibited it some
slates and an employer who violales (s protibition shail be subyect to criminal ang crvil iabiity

Panera Bread is an equal opportutily empioyer. No queshion on tins appicalion s infended lor lhe purposs of briting or excluding
any applicant’s consideration for empioyment on a basis prohibited by local. state or federal law

gl Email & Twitter Emhed@ i

| S5
=

areh Dotument

€

Sear




APPLICATION FOR EMPLOYMENT

Name (Laust) First Middle Initial Social Sccurity Number
Present Street Address City/State  Zip Code Phone number
Are you a citizen of the U.S. or do you Any offer of employment is conditioned upon completing for 1-9
have a legal right to work in the U.S.? CJYes CINo And providing documents establishing identity and work authorization,
Position Applying for: Locati fi : ; i
pplying ; Bakery Cafe Location preferred [J Full Time [] Part Time
2 )
In the past 5 years have you been convicted 1%, when? o
Of a felony relating to theft or dishonesty? []Yes [ No
Nature and disposition of conviction:
? 9
Have you previously applied for employment If Yes, whea? e
with Saint Louis Bread or Panera Bread? DYes o

. - S If Yes, indicate name, relationship and location:
Are you related to any associate employed

by Saint Louis Bread or Panera Bread? Cdves [INo

Date available for
employment:

Are you 18 years
of ages orolder? [JYes [
No

If under 18 years of age, applicant will be required to submit a
birth certificate or work certificate as required by State or Federal
Law.

Dates attended: Graduated?

Date of

Name ar re t nded:
e and address of last school atte ded Degree

Major Minor

From To Yes No

i
Are you presently If Yes, give name and address of school:
Night
Enrolled in school? [Oves [ONo Opay [ 1g

List any other education, accomplishments or special interests:

Availability
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday

From

To

Total hours per week available for work: How far do you live from the restaurant?

References
Name/Occupation Address Phone




Employment History
(List all present and past employment with the most recent.)

Company Name and Address: Immediate supervisor:
Phone: Pay rate at time of employment: Dates of employment:
( ) From: To:
Reason for leaving: (If applicable) Job Title: May we contact
; This employer?

Company Name and Address: Immediate supervisor:
Phone: Pay rate at time of employment; Dates of employment:
( ) From: To:

Reason for leaving: (If applicable) Job Title: May we contact
This employer?

Company Name and Address: Immediate supervisor:

Phone: Pay rate at time of employment: Dates of employment:

( ) From: To:
Reason for leaving: (If applicable) Job Title: May we contact

This employer?

Declaration
(Carefully read and initial each section then sign at bottom)

T certify that the answers given herein are true and complete to the best of my knowledge, and I authorize investigation of all statements

contained in this application, with the exception of contacting my present employer if I have so requested. I have read, understand and agree to

the above statement.

(Please initial here) =
I'understand that my continued employment will depend upon the successful completion of work assigned to me during a new hire period of up
to ninety (90) days and upon my continued successful performance. I have read, understand and agree to the above statement.

(Please initial here) -
While this application will be retained on file for a period of one year. | acknowledge that this application will be considered active for a period
of sixty (60) days. At that time, | must submit a new application to be considered for any employment openings. [ have read, understand and
agree to the above statement.

(Please initial here)

I understand and acknowledge that unless otherwise defined by applicable law or written agreement with Panera Bread, any employment
relationship with the Company is considered “employment at will”, which means the employee may resign at any time and the Employer may
discharge the Employee at any time, with or without cause. It is further understood that this “at will” employment relationship may not be
changed by any written document or by any conduct unless such change is specifically executed by the President/CEO of Panera Bread. | have
vead, understand and agree to the above statement.

(Please initial here) .
If'T should be employed by the Company, I understand that any false, incomplete, or misleading information given on this application or during
an interview shall result in immediate discharge. I have read, understand and agree to the above statement.

(Please initial here) o
I authorize an inquiry into niy background by all persons, schools, companies, corporations, credit bureaus, law enforcement agencies, doctors
and other consumer reporting agencies to supply information concerning my previous employment, education, credit, driving record, etc. T have
read, understand and agree to the above statement.

(Please initial here)

I authorize the references listed above to give representatives of Panera Bread any and all information concerning my previous or current
employment and any pertinent information they may have, personal or otherwise, and release all parties from any and all liability from any
damage that may result. T have read, understand and agree to the above statement,

(Please initial here)

Signature: Date:




